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PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Revenue $23,271 $28,715 $31,478 $36,408 $48,210

Net Income $5,762 $5,619 $7,933 $10,871 $13,553

Total Tier 1 Capital $40,588 $46,822 $63,117 $89,601 $104,419

Total Assets $416,468 $507,378 $761,136 $902,510 $968,984

Total Loans $348,462 $445,405 $583,209 $628,182 $743,800

Total Deposits $371,404 $451,467 $657,136 $794,669 $857,119

REVENUE (CAGR) NET INCOME (CAGR) TOTAL TIER 1 CAPITAL (CAGR)

TOTAL ASSETS (CAGR) TOTAL LOANS (CAGR) TOTAL DEPOSITS (CAGR)

$23,271

$48,210

$5,762

$13,553

$40,588

$104,419

$416,468

$968,984

$348,462

$743,800

$371,404

$857,119

+20% +24% +27%

+24% +21% +24%

* CAGR = Compounded Annual Growth Rate for Years 2018 through 2022



CONTENTS 

2 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS ................................................................................................ 1 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT .................................................................................... 3

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS ..................................................................................... 5 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME .......................................................................... 6 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ........................................... 7 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ........................ 8 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS…………………………………………………………..9 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ............................................................. 10 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS ......................................................................................................... 37

CORPORATE & INVESTOR INFORMATION ............................................................................... 39

SUMMIT BANK TEAM ……………………………………………………………………………………….………39



4

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS,
We open this letter with an expression of gratitude and appreciation for our 
shareholders, our clients and our Summit Bank colleagues who comprise the 
innovative team that is Summit Bank Group, Inc. We are pleased to report a 
year of outstanding performance. In 2022, we achieved the best earnings in 
Bank history with growth in both loan and deposit portfolios and continued 
investment in the communities we serve through volunteerism and charitable 
giving. We are proud of our achievements, which would not have been 
accomplished without your unwavering support. In this letter, we would like to 
share several highlights from the year. 

In 2022, Summit Bank delivered record 
earnings, with net income of $13.5 million, an 
increase of 25% percent over the previous year. 
Our solid performance was driven by strong loan 
growth. We achieved our 10th consecutive year 
of annual loan growth in excess of   5%. Total 
net loans as of December 31, 2022 were $732.1 
million, representing a 19.6% increase over 
the fiscal year of 2021 total of $618.6 million. 
We are also pleased to report deposit growth 
paralleled the strength of loan production 
increases, with total deposits at $857 million, 
increasing by 8% percent over 2021. This loan 
and deposit growth was fueled by our dedicated 
team of experienced bankers, who worked 
closely with our clients to understand their 
needs. Finally, earnings per share growth (EPS), 
excluding PPP, was 63%, which is also extremely 
strong for a bank.   

Positive changes occurred in 2022. Early in 
the year, Aaron Walker joined as the Chief  
Credit Officer. Aaron came to Summit with 
nearly 30 years of  experience in banking from a 
balanced mix of  senior management positions 
in commercial real estate and commercial and 
industrial lending. Aaron has been a great 
addition to the team. He possesses a wealth of  
knowledge regarding all markets in which we 
operate. His years of  client-facing experience 
provide significant benefit to Summit Bank 
Group, Inc. and our client-centric culture. 

Resources remained committed through the 
year to support the growth and prosperity of  
our Portland market by continuing to invest in 
people, technology and locations. A new loan 
and deposit office was opened in Portland’s 
Westside to provide additional convenient access 
to our services for local businesses, nonprofits 
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and business owners. Additional partnerships 
with Portland-based organizations were 
established to promote economic development, 
including the Portland Business Alliance and the 
Oregon Association of  Minority Entrepreneurs. 

At Summit Bank, we believe in giving back to the 
communities we serve. This value is so inherent 
in what we do on a daily basis that we embrace 
“community” as a key core value. In 2022, our 
annual contributions to nonprofits totaled over 
$211,000. Expansion of  our colleague volunteer 
program and hours enabled colleagues to donate 
their time and expertise to worthy causes. Nearly 
1,000 hours were donated to volunteer for local 
non-profit organizations. Recipients of  resources 
and volunteer hours include Kidsports, Food for 
Lane County, the Relief  Nursery, Community 
Warehouse, Habitat for Humanity and 
Shepherd’s House Ministries, to name a few.

Other highlights for the year come from Summit 
Bank’s Small Business Administration (SBA) 
Division. Summit’s SBA Division was named 
the Most Active Community Bank Lender in 
Oregon for U.S. Small Business Administration 
(SBA) loans, per the SBA Lender Rankings. The 
results detail that Summit Bank is a number one 
community lender in SBA 504 loans and the top 
community bank lender for SBA 7(a) loans. 

We are honored to have received several 
significant awards in 2022, including being 
recognized by Oregon Business Magazine as one 
of  the Top 100 Best Companies to Work. These 
awards are a reflection of  our commitment to 
providing exceptional service and support to our 
clients. 

As we gaze at the year ahead, we look forward to 
continued expansions in both Westside Portland 
and to Redmond, Oregon. We also want to 
recognize Bill Smith, our Founding Advisory 
Board member in Central Oregon, who passed 
away. He was critical in the growth in the market 
and a force with which to be reckoned. 

In closing, we would like to thank you, as 
shareholders, for your continued support and 
confidence in Summit Bank Group, Inc. We 
are grateful for your loyalty, trust, business 
and referrals. Everything we do at Summit is 
focused on increasing shareholder value over the 
long term. Thank you to our clients, directors, 
advisory board members and shareholders for 
supporting Summit Bank’s mission of  being 
Oregon and Southwest Washington’s premier 
community business bank of  choice and an 
integral part in the communities we serve. 
#summitonthree

Sincerely,

R. Paul Weinhold
Board Chair

Craig A. Wanichek 
President & CEO 
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IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  AAuuddiittoorrss''  RReeppoorrtt  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 
Summit Bank Group, Inc. and Subsidiary 

OOppiinniioonn  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Summit Bank Group, Inc. and Subsidiary 
(collectively, "the Company") as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related consolidated statements of 
income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively, "the financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Summit Bank Group, Inc. and Subsidiary as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (U.S.).  

BBaassiiss  ffoorr  OOppiinniioonn  

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the U.S. (GAAS).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report.  We are required to be independent of the Company and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits.  We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ooff  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  ffoorr  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S.; and for the design, implementation, and maintenance 
of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 

AAuuddiittoorrss''  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  ffoorr  tthhee  AAuuddiitt  ooff  tthhee  FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeennttss  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our 
opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control.  Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the 
financial statements. 
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In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we 
identified during the audits. 

March 8, 2023 
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy 
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  BBAALLAANNCCEE  SSHHEEEETTSS  

22002222 22002211

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and due from financial institutions 67,018,460$   11,196,986$   
Interest-bearing deposits with other financial institutions 7,349,884 15,215,350 
Deposits with Federal Reserve Bank 65,951,239 170,582,206 

Total cash and cash equivalents 140,319,583 196,994,542 

Investment securities available-for-sale, at estimated fair value 62,960,462 68,125,073 
Loans, less allowance for loan losses 732,135,068 618,624,865 
Interest receivable 3,169,999 2,248,268 
FHLB and PCBB stock, at cost 1,517,700 1,353,600 
Premises and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation 7,046,827 6,430,985 
Deferred income taxes, net 2,651,529 1,453,847 
Repossessed assets, net 342,610 28,530 
Cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 8,185,532 6,085,714 
Other assets 10,654,482 1,165,068 

828,664,209 705,515,950 

Total assets 968,983,792$   902,510,492$   

Liabilities:
Deposits:

Noninterest-bearing demand 181,448,534$   212,670,815$   
Savings and interest-bearing demand 631,026,444 570,609,117 
Time deposits 44,643,820 11,389,114 

Total deposits 857,118,798 794,669,046 

Interest payable 150,592 250,938 
Other liabilities 5,967,722 12,299,762 
Repurchase agreements and secured borrowings 1,489,141 1,490,035 
Term borrowings 19,633,799 19,592,723 

Total liabilities 884,360,052 828,302,504 

Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none issued - - 
Common stock, no par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized,

7,645,194 and 7,572,360 shares outstanding in 2022 and 2021 30,403,794 29,680,533 
Retained earnings 58,390,703 44,837,682 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (4,170,757) (310,227) 

Total stockholders' equity 84,623,740 74,207,988 

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity 968,983,792$   902,510,492$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

AASSSSEETTSS

LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS  aanndd  SSTTOOCCKKHHOOLLDDEERRSS''  EEQQUUIITTYY

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy 
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  IINNCCOOMMEE  

22002222 22002211

Interest income:
Interest and fees on loans 40,905,710$  33,931,166$  
Interest on investment securities 1,815,025 256,283
Interest on deposits with other banks 2,729,445 270,181

Total interest income 45,450,180 34,457,630

Interest expense 4,208,071 651,308

Net interest income 41,242,109 33,806,322

Provision for loan losses 4,661,150 2,205,695

Net interest income after provision for loan losses 36,580,959 31,600,627

Noninterest income:
Early termination gains on loans 952,485 499,637
Bank card and interchange fees 819,987 585,004
Service charges on deposit accounts 109,858 133,658
Real estate lease income 50,502 47,749
Loan servicing fees 198,044 302,940
Bank-owned life insurance income 89,606 91,388
Gains (losses) on sales and write-downs of repossessed assets, net (66,294) 50,059
Other 605,898 239,321

Total noninterest income 2,760,086 1,949,756

Noninterest expense:
Salaries and employee benefits 15,367,839 13,590,771
Occupancy and equipment expense 1,009,671 937,264
Data processing 1,079,547 837,410
Repossessed assets expenses 91,323 70,603
Other 3,763,915 3,517,131

Total noninterest expense 21,312,295 18,953,179

Income before income taxes 18,028,750 14,597,204

Income tax provision 4,475,729 3,726,563

Net income 13,553,021$  10,870,641$   

Earnings per share:
Basic 1.78$   1.44$   
Diluted 1.76$   1.42$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy 
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  CCOOMMPPRREEHHEENNSSIIVVEE  IINNCCOOMMEE  

22002222 22002211

Net income 13,553,021$  10,870,641$   

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities 

available-for-sale (5,182,895) (440,800) 
Tax effect of the change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment

securities available-for-sale 1,322,365 113,547 
Comprehensive income 9,692,491$   10,543,388$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311
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  GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy 
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  CCHHAANNGGEESS  IINN  SSHHAARREEHHOOLLDDEERRSS’’  EEQQUUIITTYY    
  

 

 
 
 
 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 
 

  
  

Accumulated
Other

Retained Comprehensive
Shares Amount Earnings Income (loss) Total

Balance, December 31, 2020 7,531,194 29,149,755$         33,967,041$       17,026$          63,133,822$         

Net income 10,870,641         10,870,641           

Other comprehensive (loss) (327,253)        (327,253)                

Issuance of common stock, net 8,791            129,990                 129,990                 

Stock options exercised 13,333          60,436                   60,436                   

Share-based compensation 19,042          340,352                 340,352                 

Balance, December 31, 2021 7,572,360 29,680,533           44,837,682         (310,227)        74,207,988           

Net income 13,553,021         13,553,021           

Other comprehensive (loss) (3,860,530)     (3,860,530)             

Issuance of common stock, net 3,333            49,995                   49,995                   

Stock options exercised 44,538 284,554                 284,554                 

Share-based compensation 24,963 388,712                 388,712                 

Balance, December 31, 2022 7,645,194 30,403,794$         58,390,703$       (4,170,757)$   84,623,740$         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Common Stock
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy 
CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  OOFF  CCAASSHH  FFLLOOWWSS  

22002222 22002211

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income 13,553,021$   10,870,641$   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 528,554 515,940 
Share-based compensation 388,712 340,352 
Amortization of investment premiums, net 336,392 155,645 
Provision for loan losses 4,661,150 2,205,695 
Amortization of debt issuance costs 41,076 3,423 
Bank-owned life insurance income (89,606) (91,388) 
Losses (gains) on sales of repossessed assets, net (5,124) (173,694) 
Write-downs of repossessed assets 71,418 123,635 
Deferred income taxes 124,683 78,648 
Ineffective portion of interest rate swaps (614,900) (154,000) 
Change in:

Interest receivable and other assets (1,786,245) (212,970) 
Deferred loan fees (1,861,175) (3,893,656) 
Interest payable and other liabilities 244,261 1,532,370 

Net cash provided by operating activities 15,592,217 11,300,641 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investment securities (5,500,000) (64,929,249) 
Purchases of FHLB stock (164,100) (304,700) 
Principal payments and maturities of investment securities 5,145,324 5,647,607 
Net proceeds from sales of loans - 375,168 
Purchases of loans (1,405,484) (764,564) 
Proceeds from sales of repossessed assets 1,179,079 648,382 
Purchase of bank-owned life insurance (2,010,212) (2,000,000) 
Loans originated, net of principal collected (131,150,794)         (51,612,403) 
Purchases of premises and equipment (1,144,396) (985,343) 

Net cash used in investing activities (135,050,583)         (113,925,102)         

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase in deposits 62,449,752 137,532,563 
Proceeds from common stock offering, net of costs 49,995 129,990 
Increase (decrease) in repurchase agreements and secured borrowings (894) (21,037,385) 
Issuance of term borrowings, net of costs - 19,592,723 
Proceeds from stock options exercised 284,554 60,436 

Net cash provided by financing activities 62,783,407 136,278,327 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (56,674,959) 33,653,866 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 196,994,542 163,340,676 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 140,319,583$   196,994,542$   

Supplemental information:
Cash paid during the year for interest 4,308,418$   674,351$   
Cash paid during the year for income taxes 4,514,856 3,771,963 
Change in unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities 

available-for-sale, net of deferred income taxes (3,860,530) (327,253) 
Transfer of loans to repossessed assets 1,559,453 502,459 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  

1. SSuummmmaarryy  ooff  SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  PPoolliicciieess:

BBaassiiss  ooff  PPrreesseennttaattiioonn – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Summit Bank 
Group, Inc. (the Holding Company), a bank holding company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Summit 
Bank (the Bank).  As of December 31, 2022 the Holding Company had 10,000,000 shares of common 
stock authorized of which 7,645,194 were outstanding.  All significant intercompany accounts and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.    

NNaattuurree  ooff  OOppeerraattiioonnss – The Bank provides commercial banking, financing, real estate lending and other 
services primarily in Lane, Deschutes and Multnomah Counties in Oregon.   

FFiinnaanncciiaall  SSttaatteemmeenntt  PPrreesseennttaattiioonn –  The accounting and reporting policies of the Holding Company 
conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and 
prevailing practices within the banking industry. The preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of certain assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  The most 
significant estimates are the allowance for loan losses and fair value estimates.  The Bank has 
evaluated subsequent events through March 8th, 2023, the date the consolidated financial statements 
were available to be issued.   

CCaasshh  aanndd  CCaasshh  EEqquuiivvaalleennttss – For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are cash 
on-hand and due from financial institutions.  Such amounts include both interest-bearing and non-
interest-bearing deposits with other financial institutions, short-term time deposits, and federal funds 
sold on an overnight basis and may exceed amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (FDIC). 

IInnvveessttmmeenntt  SSeeccuurriittiieess – The Bank classifies all investments in debt securities as available-for-sale.  
Securities available-for-sale are held for indefinite periods of time and may be sold in response to 
changes in market interest rates, shifts in the maturity mix or concentration of Bank assets or liabilities, 
or to alleviate liquidity demands.  Securities designated as available-for-sale are reported at estimated 
fair value.  Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from earnings and are included in accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss) in stockholders’ equity, net of applicable deferred taxes. 

Gains and losses realized on sales of securities are recognized using the specific identification method.  
Interest income on securities is included in income using the effective interest method.  Interest income 
includes accretion and amortization of discounts and premiums resulting from securities purchased at 
other than par value.  Both are calculated using a "constant yield" methodology either to maturity (for 
securities purchased at a discount) or to "earliest call date" for (for securities purchased at a premium).  
Premiums and discounts on mortgage backed securities are amortized/accreted based upon current 
and expected future rates of prepayments on the securities.  

The Bank evaluates its securities classified as available-for-sale for other-than-temporary impairments 
(OTTI) in accordance with GAAP. Accordingly, for investment securities that are in an unrealized loss 
position, the Bank assesses whether it intends to sell or it is more likely than not that it will be required 
to sell a security before recovery of its amortized cost basis. 
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  

For investment securities that are considered other-than-temporarily impaired and that the Bank does 
not intend to sell and will not be required to sell prior to recovery of the amortized cost basis, the Bank 
would separate the amount of the impairment into the amount that is credit related (credit loss 
component) and the amount due to all other factors. The credit loss component would be recognized in 
earnings and would be the difference between the security’s amortized cost basis and the present value 
of its expected future cash flows discounted at the security’s effective yield. The remaining difference 
between the security’s fair value and the present value of expected future cash flows would be due to 
factors that are not credit related and would be recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).  
Management believes that any unrealized losses on investment securities at December 31, 2022 are 
temporary. 

LLooaannss  aanndd  IInnccoommee  RReeccooggnniittiioonn  ––  Loans are stated at the amount of unpaid principal, reduced by net 
deferred loan origination fees and an allowance for loan losses.  Interest on loans is calculated using 
the simple-interest method on daily balances of the principal amounts outstanding.  Accrual of interest 
is discontinued on a loan when management believes, after considering economic and business 
conditions and collection efforts that the borrower’s financial condition is such that collection of the 
interest is doubtful. Payments received on nonaccrual loans are applied to the principal balance and no 
interest income is recognized. Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash 
payments are received satisfying all delinquent principal and interest amounts, and the prospects for 
future payments in accordance with the loan agreement appear relatively certain.  A nonaccrual loan 
may be restored to accrual status when none of its principal and interest is due and unpaid and the 
Bank expects full repayment of the remaining contractual principal and interest, or when it otherwise 
becomes well secured and in the process of collection.  Loan origination fees, net of associated direct 
costs, if significant, are deferred and amortized using the interest or straight-line method over the 
contractual life of the loan as an adjustment of the yield of the related loan.  If a loan is repaid prior to 
maturity, any remaining unamortized net deferred origination fee is recognized in income at the time of 
repayment.   

AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  LLooaann  LLoosssseess – The allowance for loan losses is established through a provision for loan 
losses charged to expense.  Loans are charged off against the allowance when management believes 
that the collectability of the principal is unlikely.  The allowance is an amount that management 
considers adequate to absorb possible losses on existing loans that may become uncollectible based 
on evaluations of the collectability of loans and prior loss experience.  While management has allocated 
the allowance for loan losses to various loan classes, the allowance is general in nature and is available 
for the loan portfolio in its entirety.  The allowance for loan losses consists of general and specific 
components. 

The general component covers all non-impaired loans.  For all such loans – other than small commercial 
equipment loans – the general component is based on the Bank's risk rating system and historical loss 
experience adjusted for qualitative factors. The Bank calculates its historical loss rates by using a 
combination of (1) a weighted-average of the Bank's most recent 36 months of loss history, with more 
weight applied to more current months, and (2) historical loss data for Oregon and certain peer banks.  
The Bank calculates and applies its historical loss rates by individual loan types in its portfolio.  These 
historical loss rates are adjusted for qualitative and environmental factors including, but not limited to: 
changes in the concentrations, trends and current nature of the loan portfolio; overall portfolio quality; 
results from internal and external loan reviews; review of specific problem loans; and current economic 
conditions that may affect the borrower’s ability to pay. 
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GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  

Small commercial equipment loans are reserved for as a pool of smaller-balance homogeneous loans.  
The methodology employed to assign reserve rates is migration analysis wherein probable loss rates 
are established as migration occurs through risk ratings.  The Bank revisits these loss rates at regular 
intervals and adjusts the applicable rates as dictated through loss experience.  As individual loans 
migrate downward through established risk ratings, increasing reserve rates as estimated by the 
aforementioned migration analysis are applied to related loan balances. 

The specific component of the allowance relates to loans that are considered impaired. A loan is 
considered impaired when management believes that it is probable that all amounts will not be 
collected according to the contractual terms.  An impaired loan is valued using the estimated fair value 
of the loan’s collateral (less estimated costs to sell) or related government guaranty, the present value 
of expected cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate, or the observable market price 
of the loan.  These estimates are necessarily subjective and may be adjusted as more current 
information becomes available.  Any adjustment could be significant.   

The Bank reports certain loans as troubled debt restructurings (TDRs) when the Bank grants a 
concession(s) to a borrower experiencing financial difficulties that it would not otherwise consider.  
Examples of such concessions include extending the maturity date(s) or providing a lower interest rate 
than would normally be available for a transaction of similar risk.  A TDR loan is considered to be 
impaired and is individually evaluated for impairment.   

Federal and state bank regulatory agencies, as an integral part of their examination process, periodically 
review the Bank’s allowance for loan losses. Such agencies may require the Bank to recognize additions 
to the allowance in the future based on their judgment of the information available to them at the time 
of their examinations. 

AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  UUnnffuunnddeedd  LLooaann  CCoommmmiittmmeennttss – The Bank maintains a separate reserve for estimated 
losses related to unfunded loan commitments.  The Bank estimates the amount of probable losses 
related to unfunded loan commitments by applying an estimated loss factor to the expected amount of 
commitments that will actually require funding. In accordance with industry practice and regulatory 
guidance, the reserve for estimated losses related to unfunded loan commitments is included in other 
liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and was $171,164 and $151,947 as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  Changes in the reserve for estimated losses related to 
unfunded loan commitments are recorded in other noninterest expense in the accompanying 
consolidated statements of income.  
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FFeeddeerraall  HHoommee  LLooaann  BBaannkk  ((FFHHLLBB))  aanndd  PPaacciiffiicc  CCooaasstt  BBaannkkeerrss’’  BBaannkk  ((PPCCBBBB))  SSttoocckk – FHLB and PCBB stock 
consists of the following at December 31: 

The Bank, as a member of the FHLB system, is required to maintain a minimum level of investment in 
FHLB stock based on specific percentages of its outstanding mortgages, total assets and FHLB 
advances.  At December 31, 2022, the Bank’s minimum required investment was $1,077,700.  Stock 
redemptions may be requested at par value and are made at the discretion of the FHLB.  The Bank's 
investment in FHLB stock is carried at cost, which approximates its fair value.  The Bank evaluates its 
investment in FHLB stock for impairment as needed. The Bank's determination of whether this 
investment is impaired is based on its assessment of the ultimate recoverability of cost rather than by 
recognizing temporary declines in value. 

The Bank also holds an investment in its primary correspondent bank, PCBB.  This investment is carried 
at cost, which approximates its fair value.  

PPrreemmiisseess  aanndd  EEqquuiippmmeenntt – Premises and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated 
depreciation.  Additions and betterments are capitalized.  Expenditures for repairs and maintenance 
are charged to expense as incurred.  Gains or losses realized from sales or retirements are reflected in 
current operations.  Depreciation is computed by the straight-line method over the estimated useful 
lives of the assets. 

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  ooff  LLoonngg--lliivveedd  AAsssseettss – The Bank accounts for long-lived assets at amortized cost.  
Management reviews long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever events or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable.  If there is an indication of 
impairment, management would prepare an estimate of future cash flows (undiscounted and without 
interest charges) expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition.  If these 
estimated cash flows were less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss would be 
recognized to write down the asset to its estimated fair value. 

RReeppoosssseesssseedd  AAsssseettss  – Repossessed assets consist of commercial equipment and commercial real 
property and are considered held-for-sale.  Repossessed assets are initially recorded at fair value at the 
date of acquisition based on current appraisals and management’s estimate of value, establishing a 
new cost basis.  Any excess of the loan balance over the net realizable value of the property is charged 
to the allowance for loan losses when a property is acquired.  Subsequent to acquisition, valuations are 
periodically performed by management and the assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount or 
fair value less estimated costs to sell. Gains and losses on sales, write-downs, and changes in valuation 
allowances are recorded in noninterest income. 

The valuation of repossessed assets is subjective in nature and may be adjusted in future periods 
because of changes in economic conditions.  The valuation of repossessed assets is also subject to 
review by bank regulatory authorities who may require increases or decreases to carrying amounts 
based on their evaluation of the information available to them at the time of their examination of the 
Bank. 

22002222 22002211

FHLB stock 1,077,700$             913,600$          
PCBB stock 440,000 440,000 

1,517,700$             1,353,600$             



17

  GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  
 
  

 

BBaannkk--oowwnneedd  LLiiffee  IInnssuurraannccee  ((BBOOLLII))  --  The Bank is the owner and beneficiary of BOLI on certain Bank 
officers. BOLI policies are recorded at their cash surrender values (net of surrender charges).  Income 
from BOLI policies is recognized when earned and is included in noninterest income. 
  
AAddvveerrttiissiinngg – Advertising costs are charged to expense during the period in which they are incurred.  
Advertising expenses were $212,237 and $265,574 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively. 

 
IInnccoommee  TTaaxxeess – Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences 
attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax basis.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on differences 
between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities using tax rates in effect for the 
year in which the differences are expected to be realized.  A valuation allowance is recognized if, based 
on the available evidence, it is determined it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
deferred tax assets will not be realized.  As changes in tax laws or rates are enacted, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are adjusted through income tax provision. 
 
Uncertain tax positions that meet the more likely than not recognition threshold are measured to 
determine the amount of benefit to recognize. An uncertain tax position is measured at the amount of 
benefit that management believes has a greater than 50% likelihood of realization upon settlement.  
The Bank's policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax settlements as a 
component of income tax provision.   
 
The Bank files income tax returns for federal and various state jurisdictions.  There is no material impact 
of potential tax uncertainties on the Bank’s consolidated financial condition or results of operations as 
of or for the year ended December 31, 2022. 

 
TTrraannssffeerrss  ooff  FFiinnaanncciiaall  AAsssseettss - Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales when control 
over the assets has been surrendered. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered 
when (1) the assets have been isolated from the Bank, (2) the transferee obtains the right (free of 
conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred 
assets, and (3) the Bank does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an 
agreement to repurchase them before their maturity. 

 
DDeerriivvaattiivvee  IInnssttrruummeennttss  – The Bank uses derivative financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to limit 
exposure to changes in interest rates related to specific loan assets.  Derivatives entered into by the 
Bank are designated as fair value hedges and generally exhibit perfect effectiveness between changes 
in the value of the interest rate swap and the hedged instrument (loan asset), with any identified 
ineffectiveness between the value of the swap and the hedged instrument being recorded in earnings. 
All derivatives and related hedged loans are recognized in the consolidated balance sheet at their fair 
values. Changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective, along with the loss or gain on 
the hedged loan asset that is attributable to the hedged risk, are recorded in current-period earnings. 
The Bank formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged assets, as 
well as its risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedged transactions. The 
Bank also formally assesses, both at the hedge's inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values 
of hedged items. The Bank would discontinue hedge accounting  when: (1) it is determined that a 
derivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the associated hedged loan 
asset; (2) the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; or (3) management determines that 
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designation of the derivative as a hedge instrument is no longer appropriate. The hedged loan asset 
would no longer be adjusted for changes in fair value and the derivative would be carried at its fair value 
in the consolidated balance sheet, with changes in its fair value recognized in current-period earnings. 
 
SSttoocckkhhoollddeerrss’’  EEqquuiittyy  aanndd  EEaarrnniinnggss  PPeerr  SShhaarree  ––  Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net 
income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per 
share include the effect of common stock equivalents that would arise from the exercise of stock options 
and the vesting of restricted stock and restricted stock units discussed in Note 9.  During 2021, the 
Holding Company completed a five-for-four stock split, effected in the form of a stock dividend, on the 
shares of the Holding Company’s common stock.  All references in the financial statements and notes 
to the number of shares outstanding, per-share amounts, and stock option data of the Holding 
Company’s common stock have been restated to reflect the effect of the stock split for all periods 
presented.   

SShhaarree--BBaasseedd  CCoommppeennssaattiioonn – GAAP requires companies to measure compensation expense for all 
share-based payments based on the fair value of the awards at the grant date and recognize such costs 
as an expense over the requisite service period (which is generally the vesting period).  See Note 9 for 
discussion of the Bank's share-based compensation arrangements.    

SSmmaallll  BBuussiinneessss  AAddmmiinniissttrraattiioonn  ((SSBBAA))  LLooaannss  SSaalleess  aanndd  SSeerrvviicciinngg——The Bank sells or transfers loans, 
including the government guaranteed portion of the loans (with loan servicing retained) for proceeds 
equal to the principal amount of loans, as adjusted to yield interest to the investor based upon the 
current market rates. The Bank records an asset representing the right to service sold loans when it 
retains significant servicing rights.   This asset is included in other assets in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet.  The carrying value of loans sold is allocated between the loans and the 
servicing rights, based on their relative fair values. The fair value of servicing rights is estimated by 
discounting estimated future cash flows from servicing using discount rates that approximate current 
market rates and using estimated prepayment rates. The servicing rights, if any, are carried at the lower 
of cost or market and are amortized in proportion to, and over the period of the estimated net servicing 
income, assuming prepayments.  

For purposes of evaluating and measuring impairment, the fair value of servicing rights is based on a 
discounted cash flow methodology, which considers current prepayment speeds and market discount 
rates. Impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying value of servicing rights exceeds 
the related fair value. The Bank held no servicing rights assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.     

NNeeww  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  PPrroonnoouunncceemmeennttss  --  In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) 
issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses: 
Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASU 2016-13) as amended by ASU 2018-19, 
ASU 2019-04, ASU 2019-05, ASU 2019-10, and ASU 2019-11.  ASU 2016-13 replaces the existing 
incurred losses methodology for estimating allowances with a current expected credit losses 
methodology with respect to most financial assets measured at amortized cost and certain other 
instruments, including trade and other receivables, loans, held-to-maturity investment securities, and 
off-balance sheet commitments.  In addition, ASU 2016-13 requires credit losses relating to available-
for-sale debt securities to be recorded through an allowance for credit losses rather than a reduction of 
the carrying amount.  ASU 2016-13 also changes the accounting for purchased credit-impaired debt 
securities and loans.  ASU 2016-13 retains many of the disclosure requirements in current GAAP and 
expands certain disclosure requirements.  ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Bank is in the process of 
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adopting ASU 2016-13 and is developing and implementing processes and procedures to ensure it is 
fully compliant with the amendments.  At this time, the Bank anticipates the allowance for loan losses 
will increase as a result of the implementation of ASU 2016-13; however, until its evaluation is 
complete, the magnitude of the increase will be unknown. 
 
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the 
effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting (ASU 2020-04). ASU 2020-04 applies to 
contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions that reference the London Interbank Offered 
Rate ("LIBOR") or other rate references expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. 
ASU 2020-04 permits an entity to make necessary modifications to eligible contracts or transactions 
without requiring contract remeasurement or reassessment of a previous accounting determination. 
ASU 2020-04 was effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. In 
December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of 
Sunset Date of Topic 848 (ASU 2022-06), which defers the sunset date from December 31, 2022 to 
December 31, 2024.  The Bank has not adopted ASU 2020-04 or ASU 2022-06 as of December 31, 
2022. The adoption of ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2022-06 are not expected to have a material impact on 
the Bank's future consolidated financial statements. 
 

In March 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-02, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): 
Troubled Debt Restructurings and Vintage Disclosures (ASU 2022-02). ASU 2022-02 eliminates the 
accounting guidance for TDRs for creditors, requires new disclosures for creditors for certain loan 
refinancings and restructurings when a borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, and requires public 
business entities to include current-period gross write-offs in the vintage disclosure tables. The 
amendments in ASU 2022-02 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, 
including interim periods within those fiscal years. The adoption of ASU 2022-02 is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Bank's future consolidated financial statements. 
     

2.    RReessttrriicctteedd  AAsssseettss: 
 

The Bank must meet reserve requirements as established by Federal Reserve Board (FRB) regulation 
which were zero at both December 31, 2022 and 2021.  When and if the reserve requirement is not 
zero, the Bank complies with such requirements by holding cash on hand and maintaining average 
reserve balances on deposit with its primary correspondent bank in accordance with the regulations. 

 
3.    IInnvveessttmmeenntt  SSeeccuurriittiieess  AAvvaaiillaabbllee--ffoorr--SSaallee: 
 

The tables below detail the amortized cost and estimated fair values of available-for-sale investment 
securities, as well as the amount of any unrealized losses and the length of time these unrealized losses 
existed as of the dates indicated: 
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The unrealized losses on the Bank's investment securities were primarily attributable to increases in 
market interest rates subsequent to their purchase by the Bank. The Bank expects the fair value of 
these securities to recover as the securities approach their maturity dates or sooner if market yields for 
such securities decline. The Bank does not believe that these securities are other than temporarily 
impaired because of their credit quality or related to any issuer or industry specific event. Based on 
management's evaluation and intent, the unrealized losses related to the investment securities in the 
above tables are considered temporary. 

 
The amortized cost and estimated fair value of investment securities at December 31, 2022 are shown 
below by contractual maturity or projected average life depending on the type of security.  Obligations 
of U.S. government sponsored agencies are shown by contractual maturity.  Mortgage-backed securities 
are disclosed by projected average life. 

 
 

There were no sales of investment securities during 2022 or 2021. 
 

At December 31, 2022, investment securities with a total estimated fair value of $6,643,479 and 
amortized cost of $6,936,730 were pledged for potential FHLB borrowings, repurchase agreements 
and other purposes.  At December 31, 2021, investment securities with a total estimated fair value of 
$6,641,929 and amortized cost of $6,665,077 were pledged for potential FHLB borrowings, 
repurchase agreements and other purposes.   

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Obligations of U.S. Government 
and U.S. sponsored 
agencies 50,327,025$   -$                      (3,801,651)$    46,525,374$   5,877,249$     (138,963)$       40,648,125$   (3,662,688)$   

Corporate debt securities 500,000          -                        (8,636)             491,364          491,364          (8,636)             -                   -                   
Mortgage-backed securities 17,734,194 - (1,790,470) 15,943,724 1,536,051 (36,811) 14,407,673 (1,753,659)

68,561,219$   -$                      (5,600,757)$    62,960,462$   7,904,664$     (184,410)$       55,055,798$   (5,416,347)$    

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

Obligations of U.S. Government 
and U.S. sponsored 
agencies 45,511,810$   23,668$           (210,734)$       45,324,744$   44,283,125$   (210,734)$       -$                      -$                      

Corporate debt securities -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        
Mortgage-backed securities 23,031,125 5,719 (236,515) 22,800,329 19,681,638 (232,183) 290,278 (4,332)

68,542,935$   29,387$           (447,249)$       68,125,073$   63,964,763$   (442,917)$       290,278$        (4,332)$            

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002211

Securities in Continuous 
Unrealized Loss Position for Less 

Than 12 Months

Securities in Continuous 
Unrealized Loss Position for 12 

Months or LongerAvailable-for-Sale

Estimated Fair 
Value Unrealized Loss

Estimated Fair 
Value Unrealized Loss

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222

Securities in Continuous 
Unrealized Loss Position for Less 

Than 12 Months

Securities in Continuous 
Unrealized Loss Position for 12 

Months or LongerAvailable-for-Sale

Estimated Fair 
Value Unrealized Loss

Estimated Fair 
Value Unrealized Loss

Amortized Estimated
Cost Fair Value

Due in one year or less 4,588,472$             4,414,144$             
Due after one year through five years 60,692,437             55,385,097             
Due after five years through ten years 3,280,310               3,161,221               
Due after ten years -                                -                                

68,561,219$          62,960,462$          

Available-for-Sale
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4.    LLooaannss  aanndd  AAlllloowwaannccee  ffoorr  LLooaann  LLoosssseess: 
 

Major classifications of loans at December 31 are as follows: 

  
  

RRiisskk  EElleemmeennttss  ––  The Bank manages credit risk through lending limit constraints, credit review, approval 
policies and extensive ongoing internal monitoring.  Additionally, credit risk is managed via 
diversification of the loan portfolio by loan, industry and borrower type as well as limits on the 
aggregation of debt to a single borrower.  The Bank also obtains periodic credit file reviews from 
independent third-parties as part of its ongoing credit monitoring process and loans are underwritten 
so as to ensure the highest probability of repayment in full, according to board-approved policies and 
procedures.  The following are the loan segment risk characteristics of the Bank’s portfolio: 

 
AAccqquuiissiittiioonn,,  DDeevveellooppmmeenntt  &&  CCoonnssttrruuccttiioonn– includes both loans and lines of credit for the purpose of 
purchasing, carrying and developing land into commercial developments or residential subdivisions.  
Also included in this designation are loans and lines of credit for construction of residential, multi-family 
and commercial buildings.  Generally, the primary source of repayment is dependent upon the sale or 
refinance of the real estate collateral.  Construction lending can involve a higher level of risk than other 
types of lending because funds are advanced based on a prospective value of the project at completion, 
the total estimated construction cost of the project, and the borrowers' equity at risk.  Additionally, the 
repayment of the loan may be conditional on the success of the ultimate project which could be subject 
to interest rate changes, governmental regulations, general economic conditions and the ability of the 
borrower to sell or lease the property or refinance the indebtedness.  The bank attempts to mitigate the 
risks associated with this type of credit by limiting concentration exposure and utilizing enhanced 
underwriting procedures as outlined in proprietary policies and procedures as approved by the board of 
directors not less than annually. 
 

    

22002222 22002211

Acquisition, Development & Construction 35,813,254$                   32,073,393$                     
Commercial 218,934,801                   175,596,682                     
Multifamily 31,242,895                     32,630,758                       
Owner Occupied 199,496,910                   183,763,598                     

Small Commercial Equipment 86,019,463                     73,916,841                       
U.S. Small Business Administration (SBA) PPP 60,002                             9,889,710                          
Other Commercial & Industrial 149,291,176                   100,832,826                     

Secured 17,625,579                     15,769,688                       
Unsecured 1,988,257                       2,242,883                          

740,472,337                   626,716,379                     

3,327,435                       1,466,260                          

743,799,772                   628,182,639                     

Allowance for Loan Losses (11,664,704)                    (9,557,774)                         

732,135,068$                618,624,865$                   

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

Capitalized Loan Origination Costs (Fees), net

LLooaannss  rreecceeiivvaabbllee,,  nneett
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CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  RReeaall  EEssttaattee – loans in this category are assigned to one of two specific subcategories: 

• Commercial – includes loans to finance income-producing commercial properties.  Loans in this 
class include retail centers, hotels, office buildings, single-tenant retail buildings, warehouses 
and other properties where the source of repayment on the loan comes primarily from non-
related tenant lease income.  There are board-approved enhanced underwriting procedures in 
place that govern the approval and funding of these types of loans.   

• Owner Occupied – includes loans secured by business facilities to finance business operations, 
equipment and owner-occupied facilities for commercial customers.  Generally, the primary 
source of repayment is the operating cash flow from business activities of the owner of the 
property or related entity.   

 
MMuullttii--ffaammiillyy  RReeaall  EEssttaattee – these loans are secured by – and are generally repaid by the lease income 
from – real estate properties built to house 5 or more families in a single property or complex.  
Apartment buildings and complexes are the major collateral in this category.   This category does not 
include 1-4 family rental properties.  
 
CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  &&  IInndduussttrriiaall - loans in this category are assigned to one of three specific subcategories:  

• Small Commercial Equipment – includes loans secured by commercial equipment, typically 
rolling stock.  The primary source of repayment is generally derived from income generated by 
utilization of the equipment collateralizing the loans, and thus, is more subject to potential 
disruption relative to larger and more diversified borrowers.  The lack of significant secondary 
sources of repayment results in a higher risk of loss and thus these loans carry market rates of 
interest that are higher than the Bank’s other loan types.  These loans possess homogeneous 
risk characteristics unique to small business lending to the transportation industry.  These risks 
are mitigated via ongoing industry trend analysis and through concentration limits on the 
portfolio as a whole as well as within industry subclasses.  The majority of these loans are 
originated to borrowers outside of the Bank’s primary market areas of Lane, Deschutes and 
Multnomah counties, throughout the western and southern United States. 

• SBA PPP – The CARES Act authorized the SBA to temporarily guarantee loans under a new loan 
program designed to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on small businesses.  PPP 
loans made to eligible borrowers  are 100% guaranteed by the SBA, carry an interest rate of 
1.0%, have either a two year or five year maturity, and are fully amortizing following a period of 
deferred principal and interest payments of at least six months from the date of initial 
disbursement.  The entire principal amount of a PPP loan, including any accrued interest, is 
eligible to be forgiven and repaid by the SBA. 

• Other Commercial and Industrial – The primary source of repayment for these loans is generally 
cash flow from continuing business operations.  Under the Bank’s policy, primary and secondary 
repayment sources must be identified upon approval and prior to funding. 

 
CCoonnssuummeerr  – the Bank engages in limited consumer lending of both a secured and unsecured nature.  
This primarily takes the form of home equity lines of credit and personal and professional lines of credit 
which may or may not be secured by tangible collateral. 
 
Loans serviced for others are not included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  The 
unpaid principal balances of such serviced loans were $32,743,867 and $44,116,478 at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
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The loan portfolio at December 31, 2022 and 2021 includes $87,923,070 and $75,223,953 
respectively, of loans which have rates of interest that change more often than annually.  Additionally, 
the loan portfolio at December 31, 2022 and 2021 includes fixed rate loans of $145,535,692 and 
$123,586,280, respectively that are effectively converted to variable rate loans via interest rate swaps.  
There were no loans at December 31 2022 at their contractual floors while at December 31, 2021 the 
loan portfolio included $59,111,879 of loans with interest rates at their contractual floors. 
 
Changes in the allowance for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2022 are as follows: 
 

 
 

Changes in the allowance for loan losses for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows: 
 

 
 
RRiisskk  RRaattiinngg  –– The monitoring process of the Bank’s loan portfolio includes periodic reviews of individual 
loans with a risk rating assigned to each loan.  Risk ratings are assigned according to various qualitative 
and quantitative measurements. 

 Risk ratings 1 – 6 represent increasing degrees of risk within the regulatory definition of “Pass” 
loans as ratings move from 1 to 6.  Regulatory bodies do not draw distinctions between these 
categories; as such, assignment of these ratings is for internal management purposes only. 

 Risk Rating 7 – loans in this category adhere to the regulatory definition of “Special Mention” 
loans.  A Special Mention loan has potential weaknesses that deserve management’s close 
attention. If left uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the 
repayment prospects for the loan or in the Bank’s credit position at some future date. Special 
Mention loans are not adversely classified and do not expose the Bank to sufficient risk to 
warrant adverse classification. 

 Risk Rating 8 – loans in this category adhere to the regulatory definition of “Substandard.”  Loans 
classified Substandard are inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying 
capacity of the obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any. Loans so classified must have a well-

BBeeggiinnnniinngg  
BBaallaannccee CChhaarrggee--ooffffss RReeccoovveerriieess PPrroovviissiioonn EEnnddiinngg  BBaallaannccee SSppeecciiffiicc  RReesseerrvvee

GGeenneerraall  
AAllllooccaattiioonn

Acquisition, Development & 
Construction 533,592$            -$                     -$                     115,069$            648,661$            -$                     648,661$            
Commercial 1,744,662           -                       -                       860,256              2,604,918           -                       2,604,918           
Multifamily 426,030              -                       -                       3,777                   429,807              -                       429,807              
Owner Occupied 1,875,613           -                       -                       (34,022)               1,841,591           162,743              1,678,848           

Small Commercial Equipment 3,158,568           (2,427,682)         -                       3,060,052           3,790,938           168,919              3,622,019           
Other Commercial & Industrial 1,652,695           (127,151)             613                      645,019              2,171,176           12,124                2,159,052           

Secured 156,678              -                       -                       15,106                171,784              -                       171,784              
Unsecured 9,936                   -                       -                       (4,107)                 5,829                   -                       5,829                   

TToottaall 9,557,774$        (2,554,833)$       613$                    4,661,150$        11,664,704$      343,786$            11,320,918$      

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

BBeeggiinnnniinngg  
BBaallaannccee CChhaarrggee--ooffffss RReeccoovveerriieess PPrroovviissiioonn EEnnddiinngg  BBaallaannccee SSppeecciiffiicc  RReesseerrvvee

GGeenneerraall  
AAllllooccaattiioonn

Acquisition, Development & 
Construction 525,501$            -$                     -$                     8,091$                533,592$            -$                     533,592$            
Commercial 1,470,657           -                       -                       274,005              1,744,662           -                       1,744,662           
Multifamily 360,541              -                       -                       65,489                426,030              -                       426,030              
Owner Occupied 1,911,454           -                       -                       (35,841)               1,875,613           -                       1,875,613           

Small Commercial Equipment 2,273,647           (774,508)             -                       1,659,429           3,158,568           67,280                3,091,288           
Other Commercial & Industrial 1,440,013           (48,312)               -                       260,994              1,652,695           139,680              1,513,015           

Secured 179,671              -                       -                       (22,993)               156,678              -                       156,678              
Unsecured 13,415                -                       -                       (3,479)                 9,936                   -                       9,936                   

TToottaall 8,174,899$        (822,820)$          -$                     2,205,695$        9,557,774$        206,960$            9,350,814$        

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr
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defined weakness or weaknesses that jeopardize the liquidation of the borrower’s debt. They are 
characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the deficiencies 
are not corrected. 

 Risk Rating 9 – loans in this category adhere to the regulatory definition of “Doubtful.”  Loans 
classified Doubtful have all of the weaknesses inherent in those classified Substandard with the 
added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of 
currently known facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and improbable. 

 Risk Rating 10 – loans in this category adhere to the regulatory definition of “Loss.”  Loans 
classified Loss are uncollectible and of such little value that their continuance as a bankable 
asset is not warranted.  When identified, these loans are charged off. 

 
Loans risk rated 8, 9 or 10 are reviewed regularly to assess the ability of the borrowers to service all 
interest and principal obligations and, as a result, the risk ratings may be adjusted accordingly.  In the 
event that full collection of principal and interest is not reasonably assured, the loan is appropriately 
downgraded and if warranted, placed on non-accrual status even though the loan may be current as to 
principal and interest payments.  Additionally, an assessment is made as to whether an impairment of 
a loan warrants specific reserves or a write down of the loan. 
 
The following tables present the Bank’s loan portfolio by loan type and credit quality indicator as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021: 

 

 

LLooaann  GGrraaddee

PPaassss
((RRaattiinnggss  11--66))

SSppeecciiaall  MMeennttiioonn
((RRaattiinngg  77))

SSuubbssttaannddaarrdd
((RRaattiinngg  88))

DDoouubbttffuull
((RRaattiinngg  99)) TToottaallss

Acquisition, Development & 
...Construction 35,813,254$           -$                          -$                          -$                          35,813,254$           
Commercial 215,162,226           -                            3,772,575                -                            218,934,801           
Multifamily 31,242,895             -                            -                            -                            31,242,895             
Owner Occupied 188,872,900           4,196,692                6,427,318                -                            199,496,910           

Small Commercial Equipment 83,743,883             1,345,604                802,494                   127,482                   86,019,463             
U.S. SBA PPP 60,002                     -                            -                            -                            60,002                     
Other Commercial & Industrial 146,906,707           448,369                   1,936,100                -                            149,291,176           

Secured 17,498,043             27,936                     99,600                     -                            17,625,579             
Unsecured 1,988,257                -                            -                            -                            1,988,257                

Total 721,288,167$         6,018,601$             13,038,087$           127,482$                 740,472,337$         

Percentage of Total Portfolio 97.41% 0.81% 1.76% 0.02% 100.00%

AAss  ooff  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

LLooaann  GGrraaddee

PPaassss
((RRaattiinnggss  11--66))

SSppeecciiaall  MMeennttiioonn
((RRaattiinngg  77))

SSuubbssttaannddaarrdd
((RRaattiinngg  88))

DDoouubbttffuull
((RRaattiinngg  99)) TToottaallss

Acquisition, Development & 
...Construction 32,073,393$           -$                          -$                          -$                          32,073,393$           
Commercial 175,596,682           -                            -                            -                            175,596,682           
Multifamily 32,630,758             -                            -                            -                            32,630,758             
Owner Occupied 174,626,795           6,526,462                2,610,341                -                            183,763,598           

Small Commercial Equipment 72,868,725             464,389                   563,369                   20,358                     73,916,841             
U.S. SBA PPP 9,889,710                -                            -                            -                            9,889,710                
Other Commercial & Industrial 98,191,302             260,244                   2,381,280                -                            100,832,826           

Secured 15,670,088             -                            99,600                     -                            15,769,688             
Unsecured 2,242,883                -                            -                            -                            2,242,883                

Total 613,790,336$         7,251,095$             5,654,590$             20,358$                   626,716,379$         

Percentage of Total Portfolio 97.94% 1.16% 0.90% 0.00% 100.00%

AAss  ooff  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002211

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr
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The following tables present an aged analysis of past due and nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2022 
and 2021: 

 

 
 

 

 
 
  

3300--5599  DDaayyss  PPaasstt  
DDuuee  SSttiillll  AAccccrruuiinngg

6600--8899  DDaayyss  PPaasstt  
DDuuee  SSttiillll  AAccccrruuiinngg

GGrreeaatteerr  tthhaann  9900  
DDaayyss  PPaasstt  DDuuee  SSttiillll  

AAccccrruuiinngg NNoonnaaccccrruuaall
TToottaall  PPaasstt  DDuuee  aanndd  

NNoonnaaccccrruuaall TToottaall  CCuurrrreenntt
TToottaall  LLooaannss  
RReecceeiivvaabbllee

Acquisition, Development & 
Construction -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          35,813,254$           35,813,254$           
Commercial -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            218,934,801           218,934,801           
Multifamily -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            31,242,895             31,242,895             
Owner Occupied -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            199,496,910           199,496,910           

Small Commercial Equipment 954,784                   899,352                   35,368                     563,064                   2,452,568                83,566,895             86,019,463             
U.S. SBA PPP -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            60,002                     60,002                     
Other Commercial & Industrial -                            -                            -                            80,827                     80,827                     149,210,349           149,291,176           

Secured 99,600                     -                            -                            -                            99,600                     17,525,979             17,625,579             
Unsecured -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            1,988,257                1,988,257                

Total 1,054,384$             899,352$                 35,368$                   643,891$                 2,632,995$             737,839,342$         740,472,337$         

Percentage of Total Portfolio 0.14% 0.12% 0.00% 0.09% 0.36% 99.64% 100.00%

AAss  ooff  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

3300--5599  DDaayyss  PPaasstt  
DDuuee  SSttiillll  AAccccrruuiinngg

6600--8899  DDaayyss  PPaasstt  
DDuuee  SSttiillll  AAccccrruuiinngg

GGrreeaatteerr  tthhaann  9900  
DDaayyss  PPaasstt  DDuuee  SSttiillll  

AAccccrruuiinngg NNoonnaaccccrruuaall
TToottaall  PPaasstt  DDuuee  aanndd  

NNoonnaaccccrruuaall TToottaall  CCuurrrreenntt
TToottaall  LLooaannss  
RReecceeiivvaabbllee

Acquisition, Development & 
Construction -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          -$                          32,073,393$           32,073,393$           
Commercial -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            175,596,682           175,596,682           
Multifamily -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            32,630,758             32,630,758             
Owner Occupied -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            183,763,598           183,763,598           

Small Commercial Equipment 471,959                   127,344                   -                            177,823                   777,126                   73,139,715             73,916,841             
U.S. SBA PPP -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            9,889,710                9,889,710                
Other Commercial & Industrial -                            -                            -                            210,678                   210,678                   100,622,148           100,832,826           

Secured 99,600                     -                            -                            -                            99,600                     15,670,088             15,769,688             
Unsecured -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            2,242,883                2,242,883                

Total 571,559$                 127,344$                 -$                          388,501$                 1,087,404$             625,628,975$         626,716,379$         

Percentage of Total Portfolio 0.09% 0.02% 0.00% 0.06% 0.17% 99.83% 100.00%

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

AAss  ooff  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002211
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The following is an analysis of impaired loans as of December 31, 2022: 
 

 
 

The following is an analysis of impaired loans as of December 31, 2021: 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  
PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReellaatteedd  
AAlllloowwaannccee

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReeaall  EEssttaattee
OOwwnneerr  OOccccuuppiieedd  
Nonaccrual -$                       -$                        -$                    -$                          -$                                 -$                          -$                          
Other 6,139,699        6,108,375         162,743         -                            -                                   6,139,699           6,108,375           
Subtotals 6,139,699        6,108,375         162,743         -                            -                                   6,139,699           6,108,375           

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall
SSmmaallll  CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  EEqquuiippmmeenntt
Nonaccrual 515,266            563,064            168,919         -                            -                                   515,266              563,064              
Other -                          -                          -                       -                            -                                   -                            -                            
OOtthheerr  CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  &&  IInndduussttrriiaall
Nonaccrual 82,459              80,827              12,124           -                            -                                   82,459                80,827                
Other -                          -                          -                       -                            -                                   -                            -                            
Subtotals 597,725            643,891            181,043         -                            -                                   597,725              643,891              

Totals 6,737,424$      6,752,266$      343,786$      -$                          -$                                 6,737,424$        6,752,266$        

IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss  wwiitthh  AAlllloowwaannccee IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss  wwiitthhoouutt  AAlllloowwaannccee TToottaall  IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  
PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReellaatteedd  
AAlllloowwaannccee

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

UUnnppaaiidd  PPrriinncciippaall  
BBaallaannccee

RReeaall  EEssttaattee
OOwwnneerr  OOccccuuppiieedd  
Nonaccrual -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                          -$                                 -$                          -$                          
Other -                       -                       -                       -                            -                                   -                            -                            
Subtotals -$                    -$                    -$                    -$                          -$                                 -$                          -$                          

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall
SSmmaallll  CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  EEqquuiippmmeenntt
Nonaccrual 222,127         224,265         67,280           -                            -                                   222,127              224,265              
Other -                       -                       -                       -                            -                                   -                            -                            
OOtthheerr  CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  &&  IInndduussttrriiaall
Nonaccrual 212,658         210,678         139,680         -                            -                                   212,658              210,678              
Other -                       -                       -                       -                            -                                   -                            -                            
Subtotals 434,785$      434,943$      206,960$      -$                          -$                                 434,785$            434,943$            

Totals 434,785$      434,943$      206,960$      -$                          -$                                 434,785$            434,943$            

IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss  wwiitthh  AAlllloowwaannccee IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss  wwiitthhoouutt  AAlllloowwaannccee TToottaall  IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss



27

  GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  
 
  

 

The following tables present the average recorded investment in impaired loans and interest income 
recognized for the periods indicated: 

 

 
 

 
 

The cash basis interest income on impaired loans was not materially different than the interest 
recognized on impaired loans as shown in the above tables. 
 
There was a single loan modified during 2022 and reported as a TDR accruing interest at December 31 
2022 with a principal balance of $6,108,375.  There were no loans reported as TDRs accruing interest 
as of December 31, 2021 and there were no loans modified as TDRs during 2021.  There were no TDR 
loans restructured during 2022 or 2021, nor were there any TDRs which incurred a payment default 
within twelve months of the restructure date during 2022 or 2021.  There were no commitments to lend 
additional funds to borrowers whose loans have been modified and recorded as TDRs at December 31, 
2022.  Determination of the allowance for loan losses for TDR loans does not differ materially from the 
process for other impaired loans in the Bank’s portfolio. 
 

AAvveerraaggee  RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

IInntteerreesstt  RReeccooggnniizzeedd  oonn  
IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss

Acquisition, Development & Construction -$                                  -$                                  
Commercial -                                    -                                    
Multifamily -                                    -                                    
Owner Occupied 5,101,079                        313,370                           

-                                    -                                    
Small Commercial Equipment 280,321                           159,911                           
Other Commercial & Industrial 91,337                             -                                    

-                                    -                                    
Secured -                                    -                                    
Unsecured -                                    -                                    
TToottaall 5,472,737$                     473,281$                         

YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr

AAvveerraaggee  RReeccoorrddeedd  
IInnvveessttmmeenntt

IInntteerreesstt  RReeccooggnniizzeedd  oonn  
IImmppaaiirreedd  LLooaannss

Acquisition, Development & Construction -$                                  -$                                  
Commercial -                                    -                                    
Multifamily -                                    -                                    
Owner Occupied 377,764                           19,067                             

-                                    -                                    
Small Commercial Equipment 348,124                           31,728                             
Other Commercial & Industrial 213,246                           -                                    

-                                    -                                    
Secured -                                    -                                    
Unsecured -                                    -                                    
TToottaall 939,134$                         50,795$                           

YYeeaarr  EEnnddeedd  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002211

RReeaall  EEssttaattee

CCoommmmeerrcciiaall  aanndd  IInndduussttrriiaall

CCoonnssuummeerr
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5.    PPrreemmiisseess  aanndd  EEqquuiippmmeenntt: 
 

Premises and equipment at December 31 consists of the following: 
 

 
 

The Bank owns its headquarters building and leases to others approximately 20% of the building.  Rental 
income recorded under noncancelable leases as well as other month-to-month agreements totalled 
$50,502 and $47,749 for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is recorded 
in noninterest income.  At December 31, 2022, future expected rental revenues to be received under 
such noncancelable leases are as follows:   

 

 
 
6.    TTiimmee  DDeeppoossiittss: 
 

Individual time deposits that met or exceeded the FDIC standard insurance coverage limit of $250,000 
totalled $1,767,882 and $1,662,599 at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.     
 
At December 31, 2022, the scheduled annual maturities of time deposits are as follows:   

 

 
 
7.    BBoorrrroowwiinnggss: 
 

During 2021, the Holding Company issued a total of $20,000,000 aggregate principal in fixed to floating 
rate subordinated notes.  The notes will mature on December 1, 2031 and bear an interest rate of 
3.25% through November 30, 2026 and thereafter will bear an interest rate equal to Three-Month Term 
Secured Overnight Funding Rate (SOFR) plus 0.217% payable quarterly in arrears. 
 
The Bank has repurchase agreements (REPOs) of $1,489,141 (average rate 0.40%) and $1,490,035 
(average rate 0.43%) at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  A REPO represents an agreement 
between the Bank and a customer to collateralize funds deposited by the customer in an interest-
bearing repurchase sweep account.  Investment securities are pledged by the Bank as collateral in an 
amount equal to the REPOs. 
 

22002222 22002211

Land 1,862,215$              1,862,215$              
Building and improvements 6,527,439               5,816,711               
Computer equipment and software 1,201,653 1,108,464
Furniture and equipment 2,241,793 1,901,314

Total 11,833,100 10,688,704
Accumulated depreciation (4,786,273) (4,257,719)

Premises and equipment, net 7,046,827$              6,430,985$              

2023 32,990$                  
2024 9,880
Total 42,870$                   

42,529,295$           
2,062,270               

52,255                     
-                            

44,643,820$           

Thereafter

2023
2024
2025
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The Bank has a borrowing line with the FHLB equal to a maximum of 35% of the Bank's total assets, 
subject to limits based on collateral consisting of FHLB stock, funds on deposit with FHLB and eligible 
portions of the Bank’s loan and securities portfolios.  The available borrowing line at December 31, 
2022 is approximately $71,000,000.  The Bank had no outstanding borrowings against this line at 
December 31, 2022 nor 2021. 

 
The Bank has secured and unsecured federal funds borrowing lines available with correspondent banks 
totalling $33,000,000 at December 31, 2022.  The Bank had no outstanding borrowings against these 
lines at December 31, 2022.  The Bank also has a borrowing line available with the Federal Reserve 
Discount Window totalling approximately $3,780,000 at December 31, 2022, which is secured by a 
portion of the Bank’s loan portfolio.  The Bank had no outstanding borrowings against this line at 
December 31, 2022 nor 2021. 
 

8.   BBeenneeffiitt  PPllaannss: 
 

The Bank has a defined contribution 401(k) profit sharing plan covering substantially all employees.  
Employer contributions are discretionary and are determined annually by the Board of Directors.  
Employer contributions were $583,224 and $478,106 in 2022 and 2021, respectively. 
 
The Bank has a deferred cash incentive plan for the benefit of certain key employees and a directors’ 
deferred compensation plan for the Bank’s directors.  Bank contributions to these plans totalled 
$226,000 and $78,850 in 2022 and 2021, respectively.  The liability for benefits under these plans 
totalled $1,248,598 and $713,995 as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and is included 
in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

 
9.   SSttoocckk  OOppttiioonn  aanndd  EEqquuiittyy  CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  PPllaannss: 
 

The Bank has employee and nonemployee equity compensation plans (the Plans) that reserve shares 
of stock for issuance to employees and directors in the form of stock options, restricted stock, or 
restricted stock units (RSUs).  Under the Plans, the exercise price (for options) or the fair value (for 
restricted stock and RSUs) of awards granted must equal the market price of the Bank’s stock on the 
date of the grant.  Options granted under the Plans have a maximum term of ten years.  Vesting generally 
occurs over periods ranging from one to four years. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were 
754,129 and 103,505 shares of common stock available for future grants under the Plans.    
 
During 2022, the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment to the Plans that authorized an 
additional 711,485 shares available for future grants under the Plans.    
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The following table presents the activity related to stock options under the Plans for the years ended 
December 31:  

 
 
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised was $349,667 and $93,136 for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. 

 
The following table presents additional information regarding stock options outstanding as of December 
31, 2022: 
 

 
 

The fair value of options granted under the Plans is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.  The fair value of the grants is amortized on a straight line basis over the 
requisite vesting periods. The expected life of options granted represents the period of time that they 
are expected to be outstanding. The expected life is determined based on the actual historical weighted 
average life of the Bank’s options.  Expected volatility is estimated at the date of grant based on the 
historical volatility of the Bank's common stock over a period similar to the expected life of the option. 
Dividends during the expected life are assumed to be zero. The risk-free interest rate is derived from 
the trailing twenty day U.S. Treasury yield at the time of the grant for a term equivalent to the expected 
life of the option.  The Black-Scholes model used the following assumptions for the stock options 
granted during the years indicated: 
      

 
 

  

Options 
outstanding

Weighted- 
average 

exercise price
Options 

outstanding

Weighted- 
average 

exercise price
Balance, beginning of year 240,221 $9.61 189,622 $8.71
Granted:

Directors 3,750           13.65           14,019         13.84           
Employees 47,674 14.52           51,539         10.36

Exercised (44,538) 6.39              (13,333)        4.53
Forfeited or expired (17,744) 10.34           (1,626)          10.05
Balance, end of year 229,363 11.27           240,221       9.61
Exercisable, end of year 139,940 9.97$           164,828 8.80$           

22002222 22002211

Expiration Exercisable Outstanding

2025 5.98$                      2.31 18,688 18,688
2027 7.92                        4.24 22,097 22,097
2028 10.21                      5.09 32,317 32,317
2029 12.35                      6.24 38,363 39,927
2030 10.57                      7.25 8,098 16,182
2031 11.51                      8.28 20,377 48,728
2032 14.46                      9.21 - 51,424

139,940 229,363

Aggregate intrinsic value $600,586 $700,841

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222Weighted average 
exercise price per 

share

Weighted average 
remaining 

contractual life

22002222 7.0                8.2% 0.00% 2.03%
22002211 7.0                16.4% 0.00% 0.95%

EExxppeecctteedd  
LLiiffee  ((yyeeaarrss))

EExxppeecctteedd  
VVoollaattiilliittyy

EExxppeecctteedd  
DDiivviiddeennddss

RRiisskk  FFrreeee  
RRaattee
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The weighted average fair value of options granted in 2022 and 2021 was $2.35 and $2.21, 
respectively.  As of December 31, 2022, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to 
options granted amounted to $171,707, which is expected to be recognized during 2022-2025, a 
weighted average period of 1.2 years. 
 
The fair value of restricted stock and RSUs awarded under the Plans is measured based on the number 
of shares granted and the market price of the Bank’s common stock on the date of grant. This amount 
is recognized as an expense over the corresponding requisite service period.  As of December 31, 2022, 
the total unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock awards granted amounted to 
$359,264, which is expected to be recognized during 2023-2025.  Weighted average years to vest for 
outstanding restricted stock grants as of December 31, 2022 is 0.9 years. The following presents the 
Bank’s restricted stock and RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

 
 
There were a total of 82,840 shares of restricted stock and options granted during 2022, none of which 
vested in 2022, 950 were surrendered unvested and the remaining 81,890 expected to vest during 
2023-2025.  There were 25,978 and 50,164 options that vested during the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021 with a total fair value of $62,678 and $123,777, respectively.  There were 24,963 and 
19,042 shares of restricted stock that vested during years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 with 
a total fair value of $251,843 and $224,423, respectively. 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding for the years ended December 31 are as follows: 
 

 
 
  

Unvested as of December 31, 2020 28,393         11.78$         
Granted 38,546         9.79              
Vested (19,042)        11.79           
Forfeited (139)              11.68           

Unvested as of December 31, 2021 47,758         10.17           
Granted 31,416         14.53           
Vested (24,963)        10.09           
Forfeited (4,235)          10.82           

Unvested as of December 31, 2022 49,976         12.88$         

Weighted 
Average 

Grant Date 
Fair Value

Number of 
Shares

22002222 22002211

Basic 7,621,409 7,552,744
Common stock equivalents attributable to stock based grants outstanding 81,940 77,244

Fully Diluted 7,703,349 7,629,988



32

  GGrroouupp,,  IInncc..  aanndd  SSuubbssiiddiiaarryy  
NNOOTTEESS  TTOO  CCOONNSSOOLLIIDDAATTEEDD  FFIINNAANNCCIIAALL  SSTTAATTEEMMEENNTTSS  
 
  

 

10.  RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  CCoonnttrraaccttss  wwiitthh  CCuussttoommeerrss: 
 
In accordance with ASC 606, revenues are recognized when goods or services are transferred to a 
customer in exchange for the consideration the Bank expects to be entitled to receive. The largest 
portion of the Bank's revenue is from interest income, which is excluded from the scope of ASC 606. All 
of the Bank's revenue from contracts with customers which is within the scope of ASC 606 is recognized 
in noninterest income. 
 
If a contract is determined to be within the scope of ASC 606, the Bank recognizes revenue as it satisfies 
a performance obligation. Payments from customers are generally collected at the time services are 
rendered, monthly, or quarterly. For contracts with customers within the scope of ASC 606, revenue is 
either earned at a point in time or revenue is earned over time. Examples of revenue earned at a point 
in time are automated teller machine ("ATM") transaction fees, wire transfer fees, overdraft fees and 
interchange fees. Revenue is primarily based on the number and type of transactions that are generally 
derived from transactional information accumulated by the Bank's systems and is recognized 
immediately as the transactions occur or upon providing the service to complete the customer's 
transaction. The Bank is generally the principal in these contracts, with the exception of interchange 
fees, in which case the Bank is acting as the agent and records revenue net of expenses paid to the 
principal. Examples of revenue earned over time, which generally occur on a monthly basis, are deposit 
account maintenance fees, merchant revenue, and safe deposit box fees. Revenue is generally derived 
from transactional information accumulated by the Bank's systems or those of third-parties and is 
recognized as the related transactions occur or services are rendered to the customer. 
 
The following table includes the Bank's noninterest income disaggregated by type of service for the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

 
 
For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, substantially all of the Bank's revenues within the 
scope of ASC 606 are for performance obligations satisfied at a specified date.  Revenues recognized 
within the scope of ASC 606 include: 
 
BBaannkk  ccaarrdd  aanndd  iinntteerrcchhaannggee  ffeeeess: Bank card and interchange fees are earned when a debit card issued 
by the Bank is used. The Bank earns interchange fees from debit cardholder transactions through the 
Visa® payment network. Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the 
underlying transaction value and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction processing 
services provided to the cardholder. The performance obligation is satisfied and the fees are earned 
when the cost of the transaction is charged to the cardholders' debit card. Certain expenses directly 
associated with the debit cards are recorded on a net basis with the interchange income.  
 

22002222 22002211

Bank card and interchange fees 819,987$                 585,004$                 
Loan servicing fees 1 198,044 302,940
Other noninterest loan income 952,485 503,766
Service charges on deposit accounts 109,858 133,658
Bank-owned life insurance income 1 89,606 91,388
Real estate lease  income 1 50,502 47,749
Gains (losses) on sales and write-downs of repossessed assets, net (66,294) 50,059
Other 605,898 235,192

Total noninterest income 2,760,086$              1,949,756$              
1 Not in the scope of ASC 606
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OOtthheerr  nnoonniinntteerreesstt  llooaann  iinnccoommee: Other noninterest loan income includes early termination fees and 
other income from loans that the Bank services. These fees are recognized on a daily, monthly, 
quarterly or annual basis, depending on the type of service.  
 
SSeerrvviiccee  cchhaarrggeess  oonn  ddeeppoossiitt  aaccccoouunnttss: Fees are earned on the Bank's deposit accounts for various 
products offered to or services performed for the Bank's customers. Fees include business account 
fees, non-sufficient fund fees, stop payment fees, wire services, safe deposit box and others. These fees 
are recognized on a daily, monthly or quarterly basis, depending on the type of service. 
 
LLoosssseess  oonn  ssaalleess  aanndd  wwrriittee--ddoowwnnss  ooff  rreeppoosssseesssseedd  aasssseettss,,  nneett::  The Bank records a gain or loss from the 
sale of repossessed assets when control of the property transfers to the buyer, which generally occurs 
at the time of an executed deed or title.   

 
OOtthheerr: Fees earned on other services, such as merchant services or occasional non-recurring type 
services, are recognized at the time of the event or the applicable billing cycle. 
 
As of December 31, 2022, the Bank had no significant contract liabilities where the Bank had an 
obligation to transfer goods or services for which the Bank had already received consideration. In 
addition, the Bank had no material unsatisfied performance obligations as of this date. 

 
11.  OOtthheerr  EExxppeennssee: 
 

Other expense for the years ended December 31 is comprised of the following: 
 

 
 
12.  IInnccoommee  TTaaxxeess: 
 

The income tax provision consists of the following for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

 
 
  

22002222 22002211

Professional services 519,062$                 461,460$                 
Printing, supplies and postage 440,020 319,105
Regulatory assessments 394,872 551,799
Advertising, marketing and public relations 715,241 603,937
Loan expenses and collection 238,391 277,543
Communications 207,412 180,919
Correspondent bank fees 180,335 129,558
Other operating expenses 1,068,582 992,810

Total other expense 3,763,915$              3,517,131$              

22002222 22002211
Current
     Federal 3,484,571$             2,763,655$             
     State 897,328                  884,260                  
Deferred 93,830                     78,648                     
Total income tax provision 4,475,729$             3,726,563$             
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The income tax provision results in effective tax rates that are different than the federal income tax 
statutory rate.  The nature of the differences for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as 
follows: 

 
 

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 
 

 
 
The Bank has determined that it is not required to establish a valuation allowance for the net deferred 
tax assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, as management believes it is more likely than not that 
the net deferred tax assets will be realized through reversals of existing taxable temporary differences 
and future taxable income. 

 
13.  CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  aanndd  CCoonnttiinnggeenncciieess: 
 

In order to meet the financing needs of its clients, the Bank commits to extensions of credit and issues 
standby letters of credit.  The Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the 
other party to the financial instrument for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is 
represented by the contractual notional amount of those instruments.  The Bank uses the same credit 
policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance-sheet 
instruments. 
 
Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a client as long as there is no violation of any 
conditions established in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other 

22002222 22002211
Expected federal income tax provision at statutory rates 3,786,038$             3,065,413$             
State taxes 806,355                  942,104                  
Permanent differences (23,072)                    (33,274)                    
Other (93,592)                    (247,680)                 
Total income tax provision 4,475,729$             3,726,563$             

22002222 22002211
Deferred tax assets:

Allowance for loan losses 2,994,355$             2,642,875$             
Accrued vacation 15,325                     20,000                     
Other accrued expenses 33,043                     16,000                     
Repossessed assets 1,284                       3,500                       
Deferred compensation 320,518                  183,784                  
Share-based compensation -                            18,000                     
Unrealized losses on investment securities 1,430,000               107,635                  
Secondary accrued interest 72,494                     125,000                  
Operating lease liability 162,721                  73,000                     
Other 49,447                     35,000                     

Total deferred tax assets 5,079,187               3,224,794               

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (371,405)                 (275,000)                 
Loan origination costs (1,598,594)              (1,115,645)              
Prepaid expenses and other (108,365)                 (100,000)                 
Share-based compensation (25,901)                    -                            
Operating lease right-of-use asset (165,543)                 (78,000)                    
Other (157,850)                 (202,302)                 

Total deferred tax liabilities (2,427,658)              (1,770,947)              

Total net deferred tax assets 2,651,529$             1,453,847$             
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termination clauses and may require payment of a fee.  Since some of the commitments are expected 
to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future 
cash requirements. 
 
Standby letters of credit written are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the 
performance of a client to a third party.  The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially 
the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to clients. 
 
To manage interest rate risk, the Bank enters into interest rate swaps that effectively convert fixed rate 
loans into variable rate instruments earning a margin over a short term index, typically SOFR.  These 
fair value hedges have been structured in most cases to be perfectly effective.  Any ineffectiveness is 
recognized in earnings.  Cash and investment securities at December 31, 2022 totalling $2,238,662 
are held by counterparties and are pledged as security for these interest rate swaps. 

 
Financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk at December 31 are as follows: 

 

 
 
Due to the nature of its activities, the Bank is periodically subject to litigation arising in the ordinary 
course of business, which is generally expected to not have a material effect on the Bank's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations, and cash flows as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2022. 
 
The Bank has entered into employment agreements with certain key employees, which provide for 
contingent payments upon a change in control of the Bank, as defined in the agreements. 

 
14.  RReellaatteedd  PPaarrttyy  TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss: 

 
In the normal course of business, the Bank has granted loans to officers and directors and to companies 
with which they are associated.  Such loans are made on substantially the same terms, including 
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with unrelated 
parties.  Activity with respect to these loans during the years ended December 31 was as follows: 

 

 
In addition, there were $1,161,776 in commitments to extend credit to officers and directors, including 
related entities, at December 31, 2022 which are included as part of commitments in Note 13. 
 
Deposits from officers and directors totalled $10,984,270 and $6,235,071 at December 31, 2022 and 
2021, respectively. 

22002222 22002211

Commitments to extend credit 230,841,980$       164,534,003$       
Standby letters of credit 1,233,948             1,259,403             
Interest rate swaps (receive variable - pay fixed,

maturing 2023-2048):
Principal amount of hedged loans 143,548,715        122,792,107        
Fair value adjustment, included in other liabilities (assets) (8,010,000) 6,688,000

Total fair value of hedged loans 135,538,715$      129,480,107$      

22002222 22002211

Balance, beginning of year 5,325,457$            6,020,680$            

Additions or renewals 200,000 300,000
Principal repayments (721,258) (995,223)

Balance, end of year 4,804,199$          5,325,457$          
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15.  FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee  MMeeaassuurreemmeennttss: 
 

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants on the measurement date.  GAAP requires that valuation 
techniques maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  GAAP 
also establishes a fair value hierarchy which prioritizes the valuation inputs into three broad levels.  
Based upon the underlying inputs, each fair value measurement in its entirety is reported in one of the 
three levels.  These levels are: 

 Level 1: Fair value of the asset or liability is determined using unadjusted quoted prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 Level 2: Fair value of the asset or liability is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that 
are observable for the applicable asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices 
for similar (as opposed to identical) assets or liabilities in active markets and quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active. 

 Level 3: Fair value of the asset or liability is determined using unobservable inputs that are 
significant to the fair value measurement and reflect management's own assumptions regarding the 
applicable asset or liability. 

 
The following disclosures are made in accordance with provisions of GAAP.  The use of different 
assumptions and estimation methods could have a significant effect on fair value amounts.  Accordingly, 
the estimates of fair value herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that might be realized 
in a current market exchange. 

 
The carrying amount and estimated fair value of the Bank’s financial instruments are as follows at the 
dates indicated: 

 

 

CCaarrrryyiinngg EEssttiimmaatteedd
DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002222 AAmmoouunntt LLeevveell  II LLeevveell  IIII LLeevveell  IIIIII FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 140,319,583$         140,319,583$         -$                               -$                               140,319,583$         
Investment securities available-for-sale 62,960,462 - 62,960,462 - 62,960,462
Hedged loans, net of allowance for loan losses 135,538,715 - 135,538,715 - 135,538,715
Other loans, net of allowance for loan losses 596,596,353 - 554,797,682 6,393,638 561,191,320
Interest receivable 3,169,999 - 3,169,999 - 3,169,999
FHLB and PCBB stock 1,517,700 - 1,517,700 - 1,517,700
Cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 8,185,532 - 8,185,532 - 8,185,532

Liabilities:

Time deposits 44,643,820 - 44,853,767 - 44,853,767
Repurchase agreements and secured borrowings 1,489,141 - 1,489,141 - 1,489,141
Term borrowings 19,633,799 - 19,633,799 - 19,633,799
Interest rate swap agreements 112,000 - 112,000 - 112,000

CCaarrrryyiinngg EEssttiimmaatteedd
DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311,,  22002211 AAmmoouunntt LLeevveell  II LLeevveell  IIII LLeevveell  IIIIII FFaaiirr  VVaalluuee

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 196,994,542$         196,994,542$         -$                               -$                               196,994,542$         
Investment securities available-for-sale 68,125,073 - 68,125,073 - 68,125,073
Hedged loans, net of allowance for loan losses 129,480,107 - 129,480,107 - 129,480,107
Other loans, net of allowance for loan losses 489,144,758 - 503,922,195 227,825 504,150,020
Interest receivable 2,248,268 - 2,248,268 - 2,248,268
FHLB and PCBB stock 1,353,600 - 1,353,600 - 1,353,600
Cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 6,085,714 - 6,085,714 - 6,085,714

Liabilities:

Time deposits 11,389,114 - 11,395,060 - 11,395,060
Repurchase agreements and secured borrowings 1,490,035 - 1,490,035 - 1,490,035
Term borrowings 19,592,723 - 19,592,723 - 19,592,723
Interest rate swap agreements 6,688,000 - 6,688,000 - 6,688,000
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The following methods were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument above 
that is measured and recorded at estimated fair value on a recurring basis: 
 
IInnvveessttmmeenntt  SSeeccuurriittiieess  AAvvaaiillaabbllee--ffoorr--SSaallee– Fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for similar 
securities.  
 
HHeeddggeedd  LLooaannss – Fair value of hedged fixed-rate loans is estimated by discounting the future cash flows 
using the current rates at which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit 
characteristics and for the same remaining maturities.   
 
IInntteerreesstt  RRaattee  SSwwaapp  AAggrreeeemmeennttss – Fair value of interest rate swap agreements is estimated based upon 
quoted prices for similar instruments in the over the counter swaps market.  
 
The following tables present assets that are measured at estimated fair value on a nonrecurring basis 
at the dates indicated: 
 

 
 
The Bank considers third party appraisals in determining the fair value of repossessed assets and 
impaired loans.  Appraisals are adjusted by the Bank in consideration of economic and market 
conditions that could impact the value of the assets.   
 
The fair values presented above represent management’s best estimates based on a range of 
methodologies and assumptions.  Where appropriate, expected cash flows are discounted using an 
applicable rate considering the time of collection, credit risk, and the discount for the uncertainty of the 
cash flows.  
 
There were no transfers to or from Level III during 2022 or 2021. 

 
16.  LLeeaasseess: 

 
During 2022, the Bank entered into noncancelable operating lease agreements for office space that 
requires future minimum rental payments.  The Bank does not have any operating leases with an initial 
term of 12 months or less. The Bank's operating leases contain various provisions for increases in rental 
rates based on predetermined escalation schedules. The Bank's operating leases also provide the Bank 
with options to extend the lease terms one or more times following expiration of the initial terms. Lease 
extensions are not reasonably certain, and the Bank generally does not recognize payments occurring 

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311  22002222 LLeevveell  II LLeevveell  IIII LLeevveell  IIIIII

Repossessed assets 342,610$       -$                 -$                 342,610$       

Impaired loans 6,393,638$    -$                 -$                 6,393,638$    

DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311  22002211

Repossessed assets 28,530$          -$                 -$                 28,530$          

Impaired loans 227,825$       -$                 -$                 227,825$       

Repossessed assets

Impaired loans

TToottaall  eessttiimmaatteedd  
ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee

EEssttiimmaatteedd  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee  mmeeaassuurreemmeennttss  uussiinngg

VVaalluuaattiioonn  tteecchhnniiqquuee

Market and income approach

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  uunnoobbsseerrvvaabbllee  iinnppuuttss

Discounted cash flows or appraised value of 
collateral less selling costs

Market approach Appraised value of collateral less selling costs
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during option periods in the calculation of its operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease 
liabilities. 
 
The table below presents the operating lease right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities recorded 
in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021: 
 

 
 
Costs of operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 totalled 
$159,994 and 103,788, respectively and are recorded in occupancy and equipment expense in the 
consolidated statements of income. 
 
SSuupppplleemmeennttaall  ccaasshh  ffllooww  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn – Operating cash flows paid for the operating lease amounts 
included in the measurement of the lease liability were $160,996 and $104,813 for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.  The following table reconciles the undiscounted cash 
flows for the periods indicated related to the Bank’s operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022: 
 

 
 

17.  RReegguullaattoorryy  MMaatttteerrss: 
 
The Holding Company and the Bank are subject to the regulations of certain federal and state agencies 
and receive periodic examinations by those regulatory authorities.  In addition, the Holding Company 
and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by federal banking 
agencies.  Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory – and possibly 
additional discretionary – actions by regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect 
on the consolidated financial statements.  Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory 
framework for prompt corrective action, the Holding Company and the Bank must meet specific capital 
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items 
as calculated under regulatory accounting practices.  The Holding Company and the Bank’s capital 
amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by the regulators about 
components, risk weightings and other factors. 
 
Regulatory capital regulations provide five classifications: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, 
undercapitalized, significantly undercapitalized, and critically undercapitalized, although these terms 
are not used to represent overall financial condition.  As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the most 
recent regulatory notification classified the Bank as well capitalized under the prompt corrective action 
regulatory framework.  There are no conditions or events since that notification that management 
believes have changed the Bank’s category 
 

  

22002222 22002211

Operating lease right-of-use assets 616,524$                282,556$                
Operating lease liabilities 635,724 302,758
Operating lease weighted-average remaining lease term 2.81 years 2.83 years
Operating lease weighted-average discount rate 3.39% 2.54%

BBaallaannccee  sshheeeett  ccllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn

Other liabilities
Other assets

YYeeaarrss  eennddiinngg  DDeecceemmbbeerr  3311
291,056$                
209,947                  

90,600                     
53,798                     
22,645                     

Total minimum lease payments 668,046                  
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2025
2026
2027

2023
2024
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The Bank’s actual and required capital amounts (in thousands) and ratios are as follows for the year 
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The Bank’s actual and required capital amounts (in thousands) and ratios were as follows for the year 
ended December 31, 2021: 

 
 
 
 
TThhee  FFeeddeerraall  DDeeppoossiitt  IInnssuurraannccee  CCoorrppoorraattiioonn  hhaass  nnoott  rreevviieewweedd  tthheessee  ccoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  ssttaatteemmeennttss  ffoorr  

aaccccuurraaccyy  oorr  rreelleevvaannccee..  

 

AAmmoouunntt RRaattiioo AAmmoouunntt RRaattiioo

Tier I capital to average total assets ($ in thousands) 104,419$      10.51% 89,381$         9.00%

AAccttuuaall

TToo  bbee  WWeellll  CCaappiittaalliizzeedd  UUnnddeerr  
PPrroommpptt  CCoorrrreeccttiivvee  AAccttiioonn  

PPrroovviissiioonnss  ((CCBBLLRR  FFrraammeewwoorrkk))

AAmmoouunntt RRaattiioo AAmmoouunntt RRaattiioo

Tier I capital to average total assets 89,601$         9.69% 78,618$         8.50%

AAccttuuaall

TToo  bbee  WWeellll  CCaappiittaalliizzeedd  UUnnddeerr  
PPrroommpptt  CCoorrrreeccttiivvee  AAccttiioonn  

PPrroovviissiioonnss  ((CCBBLLRR  FFrraammeewwoorrkk))
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RRIICCHHAARRDD  MM..  AABBRRAAHHAAMM,,  MMDD    
Dr. Abraham  has been a practicing Emergency and Occupational Medicine physician with Cascade Medical 
Associates since 1979. He is a founding member of NovaHealth (formally Eugene Urgent Care) walk-in 
clinics and the past President and current COO of Drs. Emergency Room Corporation dba Cascade Medical 
Associates. He is a founding Director of Summit Bank and also serves on the boards of Cascade Health 
Solutions, AttWill Vascular Technologies, NovaHealth and McKenzie Willamette Medical Center. He has 
previously served on the boards of MWMC Foundation, PacificSource, the Health and Safety Institute and 
the Marist Foundation.  Director since 2003. 

 

PPAATTRRIICCIIAA  OO..  BBUUEEHHLLEERR,,  MMDD  
Dr. Buehler joined Summit Bank Board of Directors in 2016.  She is a surgeon specializing in cataract and 
Lasik surgery and an owner of two small businesses.  Dr. Buehler is a managing partner of InFocus Eye 
Care, a specialty vision correction facility in Bend with 32 employees and an owner of the Bend Surgery 
Center which has 120 employees.  She is active at the St. Charles Health System and is on the board of 
directors of Lines for Life, a statewide substance abuse and suicide prevention non-profit.  Director since 
2016.  

 

AALLAANN  VV..  EEVVAANNSS  
Mr. Evans is a founder and president of Evans, Elder, Brown, & Seubert Inc., a commercial real estate 
brokerage active in sales, leasing, and development of commercial properties. He is a founding Director 
of the Bank and also serves on the board of directors of the Arts and Business Alliance of 
Eugene.  Director since 2003.   

 

DDAANNIIEELL  PP..  HHOOBBIINN    
Mr. Hobin  has more than 25 years of experience building and selling technology companies and most 
recently was the co-founder and CEO of G5, a company located in Bend that is a leading provider of digital 
marketing in the property management sector. He joined the Summit Bank Board of Directors in 2016. Mr. 
Hobin is a co-founder of the Bend Venture Conference and participates on the advisory board for Oregon 
State University Cascades and the Central Oregon Forest Stewardship Foundation.  Director since 2016.   

 

SSTTEEVVEENN  JJ..  KKOORRTTHH    
Mr. Korth is a partner and the director of real estate and development for his family business, McKay 
Investment Company. He has been a Director of the Bank since 2008 and has served on the boards of 
the Eugene Chamber of Commerce, Lane Metro Partnership, and the Oregon Community Foundation. 
He is also active in local government, having served on the Mayor of Eugene’s Economic Development 
Committee, the Eugene Enterprise Zone Committee, and as a member of the Eugene School Districts 
“Shaping 4-J’s Future” task force.  Director since 2008.   

 

AANNNN  MMAARRIIEE  MMEEHHLLUUMM    
Ms. Mehlum  is the founding President & Chief Executive Officer of Summit Bank.  Prior to re-joining 
Summit’s Board, she served as Associate Administrator of the US Small Business Administration, where 
she oversaw SBA’s loan guarantee programs that together with participating banks all over the country 
provided access to capital for small businesses and a portfolio that exceeded $100 billion. She has 
served on the FDIC Community Bank Advisory Council, the US Treasury CDFI Advisory Board and as 
President of the Oregon Bankers Association.  Locally, she has served on non-profit boards including the 
United Way of Lane County and the Eugene Area Chamber of Commerce.  In 2015, she was inducted 
into the State of Oregon Bankers Hall of Fame for lifetime contributions to the industry. Initial Director 
from 2004 to 2013.  Current Director since 2017.   
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JJAAMMIIEE  HH..  MMOOFFFFIITTTT  
Ms. Moffitt is the Senior Vice President for Finance and Administration and CFO of The University of 
Oregon. She holds degrees from Harvard College, the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy, and Harvard 
Law School.  Prior to joining the University of Oregon in 2003, Ms. Moffitt spent seven years working in the 
private sector including as a consultant with McKinsey and Company.  She has served on the Board and 
audit committee of Anixter, Inc., (formerly NYSE: AXE), a company with over $8.5 billion in annual revenue 
and on the audit committee of the PAC-12 Athletic Conference. Currently, she serves in an ex-officio 
capacity on the Board and investment committee of the University of Oregon Foundation.  Ms. Moffit was 
appointed as a Director in 2022. 

 

JJ..  AANNDDRREEWW  MMOOOORREE    
Mr. Moore  is co-president of Bigfoot Beverages. He has been a Director of Summit Bank for more than 
eleven years and also serves on the boards of the Oregon Beverage Association, the American 
Beverage Association, Cascade Health Solutions, Pepsi Northwest Beverages, and the Pepsi-Cola 
Bottlers Association. Director since 2010. 
 
 

 

DDEENNNNIISS  GG..  OORREEMM  
Mr. Orem is the CEO of Jerry’s Home Improvement Centers located in Eugene and Springfield. He is a 
founding Director of the Bank and has been an active participant in local, regional, and national 
industry trade organizations including serving on the boards of the Western Building Materials 
Association, the Home Center Institute, and the Eugene Chamber of Commerce. Director since 2003. 

 

AANNDDYY  JJ..    SSTTOORRMMEENNTT    
Mr. Storment  is a founding director of the Bank and current Board Vice Chair. He also manages 
investments in commercial real estate and operating companies primarily in the Northwest.  He serves 
on the boards of Jerry’s Home Improvement Centers, The Ford Family Foundation, Oregon Equipment 
Sales, and Stahlbush Island Farms, Inc.   Director since 2003. 

 

CCRRAAIIGG  AA..  WWAANNIICCHHEEKK  
Mr. Wanichek currently serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of Summit Bank and 
Summit Bank Group, Inc.  Mr. Wanichek joined Summit Bank in 2009 holding various Executive 
Management positions including President and Chief Credit Administrator prior to succeeding Summit 
Bank’s founding CEO in 2013. Mr. Wanichek previously served in several management positions with 
a local NYSE- traded manufacturing company following seventeen years in banking. He is Past 
Chairman of the Board of Directors for the Oregon Bankers Association. He was previously a Federal 
Delegate representing Oregon for the Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA). He is 
currently serving on the Board of Directors for ICBA Securities.  Mr. Wanichek has served as chair of 
the Eugene Chamber of Commerce and Cascade Health. He is a graduate of the University of Oregon 
with a Bachelor's degree in Economics.  Director since 2013.  

 

RR..  PPAAUULL  WWEEIINNHHOOLLDD  
Mr. Weinhold is the President and Chief Executive Officer of the University of Oregon Foundation. He 
is a founding Director of Summit Bank and currently serves as the Board Chair. He has served in 
leadership roles for a variety of local non-profits and served as the Chair of Oregon22, the 
organization responsible for hosting the World Track and Field Championship in Oregon. Prior to 
joining the University of Oregon Foundation, he spent more than twenty years in leadership roles in 
the commercial insurance industry.  Director since 2003. 
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PPIIOOTTRREEKK  BBUUCCIIAARRSSKKII,,  SSVP Commercial Banking Team Leader  HHAANNSS  MMCCKKNNIIGGHHTT,,  AVP  Treasury Management Officer  
AALLYYSSSSAA  CCLLAARREE,,  Branch  Operations Support Specialist  TTEERRRRII  MMIITTCCHHEELLLL,,  Support Specialist II 
KKYYLLEE  CCOOOOKK,,  SBA Portfolio Associate SSUUZZEETTTTEE  MMOOLLIINNSSKKII,,  AVP EFG Operations Manager  
NNAATTAASSHHAA  CCRRAAWWFFOORRDD,,  Support Specialist II JJEENNNNAA  MMOONNAASSTTEERRSSKKYY,,  Network & Systems Administrator 
RRAACCHHAAEELL  CCRRAAWWFFOORRDD,,  Branch Operations Supervisor AALLEEXXAA  MMOONNTTGGOOMMEERRYY,,  Administrative Coordinator 
VVIICCKKIIEE  CCUUSSSSIINNSS,,  VP Corporate Secretary, Administration MMEEGGAANN  MMOORREELLAANNDD,, VP Business Client Advisor 
DDAARRRRYYLL DDAARREE,, SVP Director Information Technology Services  TTAANNNNEERR  NNEELLSSOONN,,  VP  SBA Portfolio Manager  
JJEEAANN DDAARRMMAASSII,, Associate Business Client Advisor  JJAACCKK  OOMMLLIINN,,  AVP  Central Operations Manager 
GGRRAACCEE  DDAAVVIISS,,  Client Services Representative I  SSAAMMAANNTTHHAA  PPAARRDDYY,,  Concierge Banker 
JJUULLIIEE  DDEEAATTOONN,,  Loan Documentation Specialist II GGAARRYY  PPAARRKKEERR,,  EFG Administrative Manager 
MMIICCHHAAEELL  DDEEMMIINNGG,,  Associate Business Client Advisor CCHHAASSEE  PPEEAARRSSOONN,, SBA Portfolio Associate 
LLIISSAA  DDEEUUEELL,,  Support Specialist I CCHHRRIISSTTIINNEE  PPEERRLLOOWW,,  AVP  Credit Administration Project Manager 
RROOBBEERRTT  DDVVOORRAAKK,,  EFG Collections Specialist I AAVVEERRYY  PPEETTEERRSSEENN,,  Client Services Representative I 
MMEELLAANNIIEE  EELLMMOORREE,,  AVP  SBA Portfolio Manager RRAACCHHAAEELL  PPLLAANNTT,,  EFG Collections Specialist I 
TTRRAACCII  EEWWIINNGG,,  AVP  eBanking Manager PPAAMMEELLAA  PPLLIILLEERR,,  VP Bank Secrecy Act and Compliance Officer 
DDAARRVVIINN  FFOOWWLLEERR,,  SVP Commercial Banking Team Leader AADDAAMM  PPOOWWEELLLL,, Portfolio Manager 
MMAAGGGGIIEE  FFRRIITTCCHHMMAANN,,  Teller Coordinator GGRREEGGOORRYY  RREEMMEEDDIIOOSS,,  VP Internal Auditor 
DDAANNIIEELLLLEE  GGIILLLLEETTTTEE,,  Compliance & Deposit Ops Specialist MMOONNTTAANNAA  RREENNFFRROO,,  Client Services Advisor 
WWEESSLLEEYY  GGOODDEELLLL,,  Finance Associate RRAAMMOONNAA  RRUUDDEEKK,,  EFG Servicing Specialist I  
RROODDNNEEYY  GGOOEEBBEELL,,  Business Client Courier  RREENNEEEE  SSCCHHUUCCKK, Associate Business Client Advisor 
SSCCOOTTTT  GGOOLLDDSSTTEEIINN,,  EVP Chief Financial Officer AANNTTOOIINNEETTTTEE  SSPPRRAAGGUUEE,,  Loan Servicing Lead Support Specialist  
JJEEFFFF  GGUUSSIINNOOWW,,  Senior Lending Consultant CCAARRRRIIEE  SSTTAAMMOOSS,, EFG Funding Supervisor  
CCOOLLLLEEEENN  HHAARRFFOORRDD,,  EFG Funding Specialist I LLEEAAKKSSMMEEYY  SSTTRRUUEEBBYY,,  Loan Servicing Representative II 
TT''KKEEYYAAHH  HHAAYY,,  SBA Portfolio Associate  SSHHAANNNNOONN  TTHHOOMMPPSSOONN,,  Client Services Representative I 
JJAACCKKSSOONN  HHEEAATTHH,,  Associate Business Client Advisor  CCHHLLOOEE  TTIIRRAABBAASSSSOO,,  VP Business Client Advisor 
CCHHRRIISS  HHEEMMMMIINNGGSS,,  EVP Chief Operating Officer  HHEEAATTHHEERR  WWAALLIINNGG,,  Loan Documentation Specialist II  
AARRIIAANNAA  HHEERRNNAANNDDEEZZ,,  Lead  Support Specialist   AAAARROONN  WWAALLKKEERR,, EVP Chief Credit Officer  
AALLYYSSSSAA  HHEEWW,,  Associate Business Client Advisor  CCRRAAIIGG  WWAANNIICCHHEEKK,,  President and CEO  
TTYYLLAANN  HHIIBBBBAARRDD,,  Client Services Representative I  TTAATTIIAANNAA  WWIINNDDOONN,,  Support Specialist II- Card Operations  
AASSHHLLEEYY  HHOORRNNEERR,,  EVP SBA Program Administrator  RREENNDDAA  WWOOLLFFOORRDD,,  SVP Director of Operations  
MMOONNIICCAA  HHYYDDEE,,  AVP Loan Documentation Manager  HHIILLAARRYY  YYOOUUNNGG,,  EFG Funding Specialist III  
CCAATTHHRRYYNN  JJEENNKKIINNSS,,  Commercial Loan Support Specialist  AANNGGEELLAA  ZZAASSHH,,  AVP Controller  
DDEENNAALLEEEE  JJOOHHNNSSOONN,,  Universal Banker I    
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